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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Case No. 6:17-cv-01624-PGB-KRS 

 
James J. Aboltin and Pamela J. Knight, individually 

and on behalf of all others similarly situated, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 
Jeunesse, LLC aka Jeunesse Global, Inc., a Florida 
limited liability company, MLM Mafia, Inc., a Nevada 
corporation, Online Communications, LLC, a 
Wyoming limited liability company, Wendy R. Lewis, 
an individual, Ogale “Randy” Ray, an individual, 
Scott A. Lewis, an individual, Kim Hui, an individual, 
Jason Caramanis, an individual, Alex Morton, an 
individual, Kevin Giguere, an individual, John and 
Jane Does 1-100, individual natural persons, and ABC 
Corporations, Companies, and/or Partnerships 1-20,  
 
 Defendants. 
 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  

CLASS ACTION 

Plaintiffs, James J. Aboltin and Pamela J. Knight (“Plaintiffs”), by and through 

undersigned counsel, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, for their First 

Amended Complaint against Jeunesse LLC, MLM Mafia, Inc., Online Communications, LLC, 

Wendy Lewis, Randy Ray, Scott Lewis, Kim Hui, Jason Caramanis, Kevin Giguere, and Alex 

Morton hereby allege as follows: 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action on behalf of Plaintiffs James J. Aboltin and Pamela J. Knight, 

for themselves and those similarly situated, to recover damages caused by the Defendants,’ and 

their Diamond Director co-conspirators’ operation of an inherently fraudulent pyramid scheme 
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(the “Pyramid Scheme”).  The Pyramid Scheme is fraudulent because it requires the payment 

by participants of money to defendant Jeunesse LLC (“Jeunesse”) and/or its co-conspirators, 

Wendy Lewis, Randy Ray, Scott A. Lewis, Kim Hui, Jason Caramanis, Alex Morton, Kevin 

Giguere, Online Communications, LLC, and MLM Mafia, Inc. (collectively “Defendants”), and 

unnamed Diamond Director co-conspirators, in return for which participants receive (1) the 

right to sell products, and (2) the right to receive, in return for recruiting other participants into 

the Pyramid Scheme, rewards that are unrelated to the sale of products to ultimate end users. 

2. This action is brought pursuant to the Racketeer Influence and Corrupt 

Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. 1961, et. seq., (“RICO”), the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade 

Practices Act, Fla. Stat § 501.201, et seq., Florida Statutes §§ 817.06, 817.41, 849.091, & 

865.09 (the “FDUTPA”), the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices-Consumer Protection Act Tex. 

Bus & Com. Code § 17.41, et seq., and the Arizona Consumer Fraud Act, A.R.S. §§ 44-1521, 

et seq., on behalf of a class of persons who serve or have served as independent representatives 

for Jeunesse. 

3. Dr. Stacie A. Bosley, who is an expert in multilevel marketing, direct selling, 

and pyramid schemes, and who served as the expert witness for the Federal Trade Commission 

in the FTC’s pyramid scheme case against Vemma Nutrition Company, has provided a 

preliminary expert report in this case.  In that report, Dr. Bosely concludes “that Jeunesse is 

operating a pyramid scheme, disguised as a multilevel marketing organization.” Bosley 

Report, attached as Exhibit A. 

II. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff James J. Aboltin was (at all times relevant to the allegations in this 

complaint) a resident of the State of Arizona, and a citizen of the United States.  Plaintiff was 

deceived by Jeunesse’s misleading business opportunity, falsely believing that it was a 
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legitimate way to earn money, and did lose money as a result of Defendants’ unfair, unlawful, 

and fraudulent business practices.  

5. Plaintiff Pamela J. Knight was (at all times relevant to the allegations in this 

complaint) a resident of the State of Texas, and a citizen of the United States.  Plaintiff Knight 

was deceived by Jeunesse’s misleading business opportunity, falsely believing that it was a 

legitimate way to earn money, and did lose money as a result of Defendants’ unfair, unlawful, 

and fraudulent business practices.  

6. Jeunesse is a Florida limited liability company, with its principal place of 

business located at 650 Douglas Avenue, Suite 1020, Altamonte Springs, Florida 32714.  

Jeunesse began operating in 2009.  Jeunesse is a global pyramid scheme disguised as a multi-

level marketing company that purports to provide an array of purportedly youth-enhancing skin 

care products and dietary supplements to customers. 

7. Ogale “Randy” Ray is a Florida resident and is a manager for, and co-founder 

of, Jeunesse. 

8. Defendant Ray also operates Fuel Freedom International, LLC, in connection 

with which he executed an Assurance of Voluntary Compliance (“AVC”) with the Florida 

Office of Attorney General, wherein he was enjoined from among other things, violating 

Florida statutes pertaining to false and misleading advertising and prohibition of illegal 

lotteries, chain letters, and pyramid clubs. 

9. Specifically, in February, 2009, months before Ray and Defendant Wendy 

Lewis launched Jenuesse, Defendant Ray executed the AVC with regards to another multilevel 

marketing program. The AVC bound that multilevel marketing program and “each of its 

officers, directors, agents, servants, and other employees” including Defendants “Randy” Ray 

and Wendy Lewis, “whether acting directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, division, or 

other entity.”  As part of the AVC, Defendants “Randy” Ray and Wendy Lewis are enjoined 
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from violating the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Federal Trade 

Commission Rules, and Florida consumer protection statutes.  As alleged herein, Defendant 

Ray and Lewis’ marketing of Jeunesse is a violation of the AVC. 

10. Wendy R. Lewis is a Florida resident and is a manager for, and co-founder of, 

Jeunesse. 

11. Alex Morton is an Arizona resident, and a “Diamond” director co-conspirator, 

and upon information and belief, a recipient of an endorsement deal that was never properly 

disclosed, who conspired to lure people into the Jeunesse scheme, including many Arizona 

residents. 

12. Upon information and belief, Alex Morton traveled to Florida, met with Wendy 

Lewis and/or Randy Ray and entered into an agreement whereby Defendant Alex Morton 

would promote the Pyramid Scheme throughout the country, and particularly in Arizona, using 

a secret business development agreement as further alleged in paragraphs 121-145, below. 

13. Scott A. Lewis is a Florida resident and is the Chief Visionary Officer for 

Jeunesse. 

14. Jason Caramanis is a resident of California and an Imperial Diamond Director in 

Jeunesse. 

15. Upon information and belief, Jason Caramanis traveled to Florida, met with 

Wendy Lewis and/or Randy Ray and entered into an agreement whereby Defendant Caramanis 

would promote the Pyramid Scheme throughout the country using secret business development 

agreements as further alleged in paragraphs 121-145, below. 

16. Kim Hui is a resident of California and Double Diamond Director in Jeunesse. 

17. Kevin Giguere is a Florida resident and Diamond Director in Jeunesse. 
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18. Fuel Freedom International Sales Corporation is a Florida corporation.  Fuel 

Freedom International Sales Corporation is an instrumentality through which Defendants have 

promoted the Pyramid Scheme as alleged herein. 

19. Online Communications, LLC (“Online LLC”) is a Wyoming limited liability 

company.  

20. Jason Caramanis is principal of Online LLC. 

21. Online LLC is an instrumentality through which Jason Caramanis has promoted 

the Pyramid Scheme as alleged herein. Through Online LLC, Defendant Caramanis promotes 

the Pyramid Scheme through the use of the Jeunesse secret business development deals, as 

further alleged in paragraphs 121-145, below. 

22. MLM Mafia, Inc. is a Nevada Corporation.  

23. Jason Caramanis is president of MLM Mafia, Inc. 

24. Jason Caramanis is treasurer of MLM Mafia, Inc. 

25. Upon information and belief, MLM Mafia, Inc. is an instrumentality through 

which Jason Caramanis promotes the Pyramid Scheme as alleged herein, and/or receives the 

proceeds from the Pyramid Scheme. 

III. 

CONSPIRACY, AGENCY, JOINT VENTURE, ALTER EGO 

25. Each of the Defendants named herein acted as a co-conspirator, agent, single 

enterprise, joint venturer, or alter ego of, or for, the other Defendants, with respect to the acts, 

violations, and common course of conduct alleged herein, and ratified said conduct, aided and 

abetted, or is otherwise liable.  Defendants have had meetings with other Defendants, and 

unnamed Diamond Director co-conspirators and have reached agreements to market and 

promote the Pyramid Scheme as alleged herein. 
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26. Defendants, along with unnamed Diamond Director co-conspirators, were part of 

the leadership team that participated with Jeunesse, and made decisions regarding: products, 

services, marketing strategy, compensation plans (both public and secret), incentives, contests, 

and other matters.  In addition, Defendants and unnamed co-conspirators were directly and 

actively involved in decisions to develop and amend the distributor agreements and 

compensation plans. 

27. John and Jane Does 1-100 are fictitious names for individual co-conspirators 

within the Pyramid Scheme, who profited from the scheme, and/or who received the proceeds 

from that scheme, but whose identities and involvement are not yet known to plaintiffs. 

28. ABC Corporations, ABC Companies, and ABC Partnerships 1-20 are fictitious 

names for legal entities who participated in the Pyramid Scheme, and or received the proceeds 

from that scheme, but whose identities and involvement are not yet known to plaintiffs. 

29. The acts charged in this Complaint, as having been done by Defendants, were 

authorized, ordered, ratified or done by their officers, agents, employees, or representatives – 

while actively engaged in the management of the Defendants’ businesses or affairs. 

IV. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

30. Defendants are subject to the jurisdiction of this Court.  Corporate Defendant 

Jeunesse has its headquarters in Florida, and/or has committed tortious and fraudulent acts 

throughout the United States and has caused damages to victims nationwide.  The individual 

Defendants have, at all relevant times, also been engaged in continuous and systemic business 

in Florida and throughout the country, and/or have committed tortious acts in Florida and 

throughout the country that have damaged Plaintiffs and the class. 

31. The actions giving rise to this lawsuit were taken by Defendants, in Florida and 

throughout the United States. In accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 1965(a) and (b), the Defendants 
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are subject to this Court’s jurisdiction in that they “transact affairs” in Florida and “the ends of 

justice require that [they] …. be brought before the Court[.]  See U.S.C. § 1965[a] and [b]). 

32. This Court has personal jurisdiction over defendants pursuant to U.S.C. § 

1965[b], “the Court may cause such parties to be summoned, and process for the purpose may 

be served in any judicial district of the United States by the marshal thereof.” (U.S.C. § 1965[a] 

and [b]). 

33. Because Plaintiffs assert claims pursuant to the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt 

Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968, this Court has jurisdiction over this action, 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

34. Because Plaintiffs assert claims pursuant to the FDUTPA, this Court may 

exercise supplemental jurisdiction, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367. 

35. Because Plaintiffs assert state-law claims under A.R.S. §§ 44-1521, et. seq., this 

Court may exercise supplemental jurisdiction, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367. 

36. Because Plaintiffs assert state-law claims under for Tex. Bus & Com. Code 

§17.41, et. seq., this Court may exercise supplemental jurisdiction, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1367. 

37. Venue is proper in this District, pursuant to 28 § 1391(b) and (c) and 18 § 

1965(a) and (b), because a substantial number of the acts and transactions that precipitated 

Plaintiffs’ claims (and the claims of the Class And Subclasses) occurred within this District.  

Defendants did (or solicited) business, and transmitted communications by mail or wire, relating 

to their illegal Pyramid Scheme, in this district; transacted their affairs, in this judicial-district; 

and committed wrongful acts in this district, which have directly impacted the general public (of 

this district), and the ends of justice do require that parties residing in other districts be brought 

before this Court. 

V. 
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. The Nature of Pyramid Schemes. 

38. Although pyramid schemes can take various forms, they are at their core 

inherently illegal schemes, by which perpetrators induce others to join, with the promise of 

profits and rewards from a putative business. The reality of the schemes, however, is that 

rewards to those that join come almost exclusively from the recruitment of new 

participants/victims to the scheme. 

39. “Like chain letters, pyramid schemes may make money for those at the top of the 

chain or pyramid, but ‘must end up disappointing those at the bottom who can find no 

recruits.’”  Webster v. Omnitrition Int'l, Inc., 79 F.3d 776, 781 (9th Cir. 1996) (quoting In re 

KoscotInterplanetary, Inc., 86 F.T.C. 1106, 1181 (1975)), affd mem. sub nom., Turner v. FTC., 

580 F.2d 701 (D.C. Cir. 1978)).  As such, “[p]yramid schemes are-said to be inherently 

fraudulent[.]”  79 F.3d at 781. 

40. Pyramid schemes are characterized as: “the payment by Associates of money to 

the company in return for which they receive (1) the right to sell a product and (2) the right to 

receive in return for recruiting other Associates into the program rewards which are unrelated to 

sale of the product to ultimate users.” Omnitrition¸ 79 F.3d at 781 (quoting Koscot¸ 86 F.T.C. at 

1180); FTC v. Burnlounge, Inc., 753 F.3d 878, 880 (9th Cir. 2014). 

41. The satisfaction of the second element of the Koscot test is the sine qua non of a 

pyramid scheme: “As is apparent, the presence of this second element, recruitment with rewards 

unrelated to product sales, is nothing more than an elaborate chain letter device in which 

individuals who pay a valuable consideration with the expectation of recouping it to some 

degree via recruitment are bound to be disappointed.”  Omnitrition, 79 F.3d  at 782. 
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42. “The operation of a pyramid scheme constitutes fraud for purposes of several 

federal antifraud statutes.” Omnitrition, 79 F.3d at 782; F.T.C. v. BurnLounge, Inc., 753 F.3d 

878, 880 (9th Cir. 2014). 

43. Arizona law also renders pyramid schemes illegal.  Arizona law defines a 

pyramid scheme as follows: 

“Pyramid promotional scheme” means any plan or operation by which a 

participant gives consideration for the opportunity to receive 

compensation which is derived primarily from any person's introduction of 

other persons into participation in the plan or operation rather than from 

the sale of goods, services or intangible property by the participant or 

other persons introduced into the plan or operation. 

Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-1731. 

 

44. The presence of other terms does not change the identity of the scheme: 

A limitation as to the number of persons who may participate or the 

presence of additional conditions affecting eligibility for the opportunity to 

receive compensation under the plan or operation does not change the 

identity of the scheme as a pyramid promotional scheme nor is it a defense 

under this article that a participant, on giving consideration, obtains any 

goods, services or intangible property in addition to the right to receive 

compensation. 

Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-1735(B). 

45. Pyramid schemes are also illegal in Florida and Texas.  See Tex. Bus. & Com. 

Code § 17.461(a) and Fla. Stat. Ann. § 849.091. 

46. On October 19, 2015, TruthInAdvertising.org (“TINA”) sent a letter to the 

Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) informing the FTC of the results of TINA’s investigation 

into Jeunesse’s illegal pyramid scheme.  [See TINA Letter to FTC, attached hereto as Exhibit 

B]. 

47. Among other findings, TINA’s investigation revealed the following: 

 “TINA.org’s investigation revealed a host of issues, including, 

among other things, an emphasis on recruitment over product sales, 

and claims made by the company, as well as its medical advisory 

Case 6:17-cv-01624-PGB-KRS   Document 123   Filed 10/30/17   Page 9 of 58 PageID 1144



 

10 

board, that its products can manipulate human genes and cells to 

slow the aging process.” 

 

 “TINA.org found that Jeunesse and its distributors are using 

deceptive income claims regarding the financial gains consumers 

will achieve by becoming distributors. For example, Jeunesse 

advertises that those who sign-up for its business opportunity can 

make over $26,000 per week. Its distributors also make unrealistic 

financial promises, such as being able to make millions of dollars per 

year. The problem is that the vast majority of these income claims 

contain no disclosure, let alone a legally appropriate one.  TINA.org 

has compiled over 60 instances of these types of income claims, 

which are all available at 

https://www.truthinadvertising.org/jeunesse-income-claims-

database/.” 

 

 “Based on this information, we contacted the company on September 

25, 2015 notifying it of TINA.org’s findings of inappropriate income 

and health claims made by Jeunesse and/or its distributors, and asked 

that the company remedy the deceptive marketing immediately.  

While the company admitted that ‘misrepresentations of the kind 

that [TINA.org] allege[s] clearly are prohibited by our rules of 

conduct’ and indicated that it ‘is in the process of adding new 

fulltime employees to the compliance group in the coming weeks,’ 

over three weeks have past[sic] since TINA.org’s initial warning and 

the majority of examples of deceptive health and income claims 

published in our databases – including marketing materials created 

by the company itself – are still up on the Internet.’” 

 

48. Randy Ray, Chief Executive Officer, Jeunesse, and Greg Hogenmiller, Deputy 

General Counsel, Jeunesse, were copied on TINA’s letter to the FTC. 

49. Upon information and belief, Jeunesse has taken no action to remedy the 

violations uncovered by TINA. 

50. Pyramid schemes that masquerade as legitimate multi-level marketing (“MLM”) 

companies soil the reputation of the MLM industry.  Rogue companies like Jeunesse give 

legitimate operators a bad name.  In response, the FTC has been taking more aggressive steps 

and actions against those rogue actors, and shutting down their unlawful business operations. 

For example, in 2007, the FTC took action against Burnlounge Inc., for operating a pyramid 
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scheme in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.  Burnlounge was offering its associates the 

opportunity to participate in cash rewards in exchange for an initial fee, plus recurring monthly 

fees.  Members were paid automatic signup bonuses for selling higher priced packages to new 

associates.  The matter was heavily litigated, and ultimately reached the Ninth Circuit Court of 

Appeals.  See F.T.C. v. BurnLounge, Inc., 753 F.3d 878 (9th Cir. 2014). The Ninth Circuit 

rendered its opinion in 2014, finding that BurnLounge’s business model focused on recruitment, 

and that the rewards paid, in the form of cash bonuses, were primarily earned for recruitment, as 

opposed to merchandise sales to consumers. Id. at 886.  The Court placed an emphasis on the 

fact that recruiting was built into the compensation structure, in that recruiting led to eligibility 

for cash rewards, and the more recruiting the higher the rewards.  Id. at 884.  Thus, the court 

found BurnLounge’s focus was on promoting the bonus and commission program rather than 

selling the company’s products to end retail users.  Id. 

51. On August 1, 2015, the FTC took action against VEMMA and alleged that it was 

a pyramid scheme based on representations made in promotional videos, in which 

representatives discussed its compensation model and alleged income opportunities.  VEMMA 

used a binary-based compensation model almost identical to the one at issue in this case.  Like 

Jeunesse’s binary compensation plan, VEMMA affiliates earned financial rewards for building 

two teams of affiliates, who were then charged with recruiting additional affiliates. The FTC 

argued that the emphasis of VEMMA’s sales culture is recruitment, thus the product is merely 

incidental to the business opportunity. This case led to a settlement in which Vemma agreed to 

injunctive relief and payment valued at $238 million. 

B. Defendants’ Enterprise Constitutes a Pyramid Scheme. 

52. Jeunesse has at least two separate compensation plans—a public compensation 

plan (the “Public Compensation Plan”) and a private compensation plan involving secret, 
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undisclosed backroom deals offered to those believed to be “quality” recruits, typically top 

earners in other network marketing companies with established downlines (the “Secret 

Compensation Plan”).  Both compensation plans further Jeunesse’s operation of an illegal 

pyramid scheme because both plans revolve around recruitment. A distributor’s compensation is 

derived from successfully recruiting new distributors (not product sales to ultimate end users), 

or, as in the case of the undisclosed, Secret Compensation Plan, luring and importing entire 

downlines or “teams” from other network marketing companies. 

53. The Jeunesse compensation plan produces a system of monetary rewards that 

dramatically favors recruitment over retail sales and leads to a constant cycle of victims 

churning in and out of the program. While Jeunesse holds itself out as a legal multi-level 

marketing business and purports to sell a suite of products through its distributors, very few (if 

any) of Jeunesse’s products are ever sold to anyone other than the distributors themselves. 

54. Moreover, Jeunesse’s system strongly encourages distributors to buy more and 

more product, regardless of whether they need it for retail sales or would otherwise buy it for 

personal use. Distributors must achieve certain levels of purchases by themselves or in 

conjunction with downline distributors to maintain their eligibility for each type of bonus from 

Jeunesse. This pressure to maintain their statuses incentives the distributors to purchase product 

they do not need. Indeed, Jeunesse specifically designed its system to incentivize distributors to 

purchase product they do not need. 

55. Defendants have operated and promoted their fraudulent schemes throughout the 

United States through the use of the U.S. mail and interstate wire communications.  Through 

their creation and operation of their pyramid scheme, Defendants specifically intended to, and 

did in fact, defraud their distributors ― including Plaintiffs and the members of the Class. 

C. The Jeunesse Public Compensation Plan. 
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56. Jeunesse’s public compensation plan is referred to as a “Binary” plan.  In this 

plan, participants are required to build two separate organizations (“legs”), where participants 

derive compensation based off of a percentage of volume generated from their downline. 

57. At the bottom rung of this operation is a network of so-called Distributors.  

Jeunesse purports to sell its products through the Distributors, but, in fact, few of Jeunesse 

products are ever sold to anyone other than its Distributors.  Because its Distributors are the 

actual customers and ultimate users of its products, Jeunesse requires an ever-expanding 

network of new Distributors in order to keep the pyramid scheme running. 

58. Under the Jeunesse Public Compensation Plan, Distributors are able to earn 

income primarily from two sources: (1) bonuses for recruiting and sponsoring new 

representatives, and (2) commissions from sales of products and services to themselves and to 

the recruits in their “downline,” including a 20% “Check Match” on all commissions received 

by personally sponsored distributors. 

59. The term “Downline” is commonly used to represent a cluster of people in a 

participant’s organization.   

60. Jeunesse operates as an illegal pyramid scheme in part because its Public 

Compensation Plan revolves around a recruitment-oriented message, in which a Distributor’s 

compensation derives from successful recruitment of new distributors.  “Courts . . . have 

consistently found MLM businesses to be illegal pyramids where their focus was on recruitment 

and where rewards were paid in exchange for recruiting others, rather than simply selling 

products.”  F.T.C. v. BurnLounge, Inc., 753 F.3d 878, 885 (9th Cir. 2014).  A Distributor 

receives rewards which are unrelated to the sale of products or services to ultimate users outside 

of the Jeunesse pyramid.  See United States v. Gold, 177 F.3d 472, 480 (6th Cir 1999) (quoting 

In re Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 86 F.T.C. 1106, 1187 (1975)). Such a scheme is deemed 

inherently fraudulent under federal, Florida, Arizona and Texas law. 
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61. New entrants into the Jeunesse pyramid scheme are effectively required to make 

a minimum initial investment from $249.90 up to $1,849.90, by paying a $49.95 startup fee, and 

purchasing at least the $199.95 Basic Product Package (if not the $1,799.95 Jumbo Package).  

All of the exorbitant costs are paid in order to stay “Active” and “Qualified,” which is necessary 

to be compensated under the scheme. 

62. Because Jeunesse’s Distributors essentially do not sell products to consumers 

(who are not also distributors), they only obtain return on their investment by recruiting new 

distributors (who then buy products).  This results in payouts alleged to be “bonuses” and 

“commissions.”  When a company incentivizes the recruitment of new participants over product 

sales, rewards to participants are not considered sales to ultimate users.  BurnLounge, 753 at 

887; see United States v. Gold, 177 F.3d 472, 481 (6th Cir 1999). 

63. Jeunesse is a classic pyramid scheme with charismatic leaders/founders at the top 

of its enterprise.  In this case, Defendants Lewis and Ray are those leaders.  Defendants Lewis 

and Ray are supported by various businesses and individuals (usually high ranking 

representatives of the company), such as the other individual Defendants, and unnamed 

Diamond Director co-conspirators, who disseminate its marketing materials, and promote the 

scheme to individuals through seminars, promotional videos, and websites. These conspirators 

instruct other "liked-minded" individuals to duplicate their “system” as soon as possible, to 

further the conspiracy. 

64. In sum, Jeunesse’s emphasis on selling product packages to recruits is not based 

upon real consumer demand for its products, but instead by the new recruit’s desire to earn 

greater commissions and bonuses under the Jeunesse Public Compensation Plan. 

65. From its inception in 2009, Jeunesse has utilized a compensation-plan document 

that describes a compensation structure that amounts to a fraudulent and illegal pyramid 

scheme, both by its very terms, and by its implementation in practice. 
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66. Defendants recruit new victims into the Pyramid Scheme primarily by offering 

them the opportunity to become “Jeunesse distributors.” 

67. To become a Jeunesse distributor a participant is required to purchase “the 

mandatory $49.95 Starter Kit.” [See Jeunesse Opportunity Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit C]. 

68. According to Diamond Director Steve Green, with the purchase of the $49.95 

Starter Kit, “you get to plug into a bona fide billion dollar world-wide platform.  You can build 

an international business from your living room, for $49.95.  It’s a steal, right?”
1
 

69. In addition to paying the one-time $49.95 start-up fee, the new Jeunesse 

Distributor is then encouraged to join as an “Active” distributor. 

70. The new distributor becomes “active” by selecting a product package from the 

company ranging in price from $199 to $1,799.00.  The product packages contain a mixture of 

various Jeunesse products.   

71. New distributors are strongly encouraged to purchase one of the more expensive 

product packages.  These initial product purchases, after all, generate the funds that fuel the 

Jeunesse pyramid scheme.  With regard to the initial product package purchase, Defendants tell 

new and prospective distributors:  “The more you spend, the more you get.  And is inventory an 

advantage in our business?  Yes!”
2
 

72. In reality, a new distributor’s only hope of recouping his or her money is to 

recruit new victims for the scheme. 

73. When a Jeunesse distributor recruits a new individual into his or her downline, 

and the new individual “activates” by purchasing a Jeunesse product package, the distributor 

who enrolled the new individual into his downline receives a “Customer Acquisition Bonus” 

ranging from $25 to $250, depending on the price of the product package purchased. 

                         
1
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FDKUR_q-nu0 

2
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FDKUR_q-nu0 
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74. When a Jeunesse distributor recruits a new distributor who purchases a product 

package, the following recruitment commissions are paid out: 

 Basic Package ($199.95) – $25 commission 

 Supreme Package ($499.95) – $100 commission 

 Jumbo Package ($799.95) – $200 commission 

 1-Year Jumbo Package ($1799.95) – $200 commission 

 Ambassador Package ($1099.95) – $250 commission 

These bonuses are paid regardless of whether any Jeunesse product is sold to ultimate end-users 

outside the distribution channel.  As one Jeunesse recruitment video states:  “These bonuses are 

paid when you introduce a new distributor who goes on to purchase one of the Jeunesse Product 

packages when they get started.”
3
 

75. To earn such recruitment commissions, there is no requirement that any Jeunesse 

product be sold outside the distribution channel. 

76. After the new distributor “activates” by purchasing a Jeunesse product package, 

new distributors are told they then need to “qualify” to earn “team commissions.”  As the 

Jeunesse Public Compensation Plan provides: 

In order to qualify for this powerful income stream, you need to accumulate 

100 Personal Volume (PV) points in one month during the first year (which 

ends on your renewal date) from your customer’s purchases through your 

website or your personal purchases and personally enroll two Distributors 

who each accumulate 100 PV within one month.  Place one of these 

Distributors on your left team and one on your right team.  This will activate 

your position so that you may now be eligible to earn Team Commissions. 

 

See Opportunity (Ex. C).  

77. Purchases of product packages by Distributors and new recruits generate 

particular “commissionable volume” point values (“CV”), as follows: 

                         
3
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oObOn1uLOnI 
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 Basic Package   100 (CV) 

 Supreme Package  300 (CV) 

 Jumbo Package   400 (CV) 

 1 Year Jumbo Package  500 (CV) 

78. When a distributor recruits two new victims, places them on the left and right 

side of the binary and then “activates” those new individuals, the Distributor becomes an 

“Executive.”  Defendants tell new and potential distributors: 

Think of the Executive as the brick in the Jeunesse house you are going to 

build.  And the more executives you create in your organization, the bigger 

your Jeunesse house and the more money you are going to make … Create 

‘Executives.’  That’s the game here.  You create ‘Executives.’”
4
 

79. To “create executives” there is no requirement that any Jeunesse product be sold 

to any customer outside the distribution channel. 

80. Jeunesse Distributors are rewarded for enrolling new victims into Jeunesse and 

encouraging those new distributors to “activate” by purchasing a product package.  Each 

product package is assigned a point level based on the overall cost of the package.  Based on the 

accumulation of such points in the distributor’s downline a distributor is eligible to earn team 

commissions.  As one Jeunesse recruitment video explains: 

Every product and product package has a point total attached to it known as 

a commissionable volume or CV…. When 300 CV have been accumulated 

in one team (it doesn’t matter which one) and 600 CV points in the other 

you will earn a team commission of $35.00 and you keep earning 35.00 

every time this happens….So as your team grows, you will receive 35 dollar 

bonuses over and over again.  And the most amazing thing is this can 

happen up to 750 times each week!  Meaning you could earn up to $26,250 

in just seven days.
5
   

81. New recruits are told that it is easy to earn such commissions under the Jeunesse 

Public Compensation Plan: 

                         
4
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FDKUR_q-nu0 

5
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oObOn1uLOnI 
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The real key to building your business and developing a sizable monthly 

income with Jeunesse is to build your sales team….The more people you 

encourage to join and the more you help them succeed the more you earn…. 

And don’t worry, its easy.  All you need to do is accumulate 100 Personal 

Volume or PV points in one month and enroll two distributors, one on your 

left team and one on your right who have each generated 100 personal 

volume points in one month during the first year of joining.  Once you’ve 

qualified as an executive, its time to start building your two teams so that 

your business starts to grow and you’re eligible for more and more 

commissions.
6
 

 

82. The opportunity to earn commissions and residual income for life is the main 

selling point of the Jeunesse “business opportunity.”  Team Commissions are paid out using a 

binary compensation structure:  the recruiting distributor is at the top, and his two subsequent 

recruits (who have purchased product packages) are each placed in one of the two left/right 

binary legs.  Once one leg reflects a minimum of 300 CV points and the other leg reflects a 

minimum of 600 CV points, a distributor earns a $35 payout.  The Public Compensation Plan 

states that this can happen up to 750 times in a week for a total of over $26,000 in team 

commissions.  See Opportunity (Ex. C). 

83. To lure recruits into the Jeunesse pyramid, Defendants make these specific 

income claims and then tell potential recruits: 

What if you did ten percent [of $26,000]?  Would that be okay with you?  

What if you did ten percent that good?  Could you use an extra $2,600 a 

week?  Could you?  That’s an extra $100,000 a year.  That’s life-changing 

money… Do you know there are people at this company that they’re maxing 

this out every single week?  Do you know this company has paid out 500 

billion [sic] dollars in commissions to people like you and me who have 

been smart enough to align ourselves with this company in front of this 

global trend of anti-aging demand, and guess where we all are right now, we 

are in the front of that trend and we’re all right now being swept up into a 

jet stream of momentum carrying to riches…And it starts with team 

building.
7
 

                         
6
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oObOn1uLOnI 

7
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FDKUR_q-nu0 

Case 6:17-cv-01624-PGB-KRS   Document 123   Filed 10/30/17   Page 18 of 58 PageID 1153



 

19 

84. The basis for promoting Distributors to higher positions in the Jeunesse pyramid 

is not success in selling products to customers outside the distribution channel, but rather the 

recruitment and sponsorship of new distributors—those in his or her “downline.”  There are 14 

ranks in the Public Compensation Plan of the Jeunesse pyramid.  The ranks are based upon a 

distributor’s ability to recruit new distributors, and the ranks dictate earning rates of the 

distributors.  The ranks, along with their respective qualification criteria, are as follows: 

 Associate (no MLM) – sign up as a Jeunesse affiliate (minimum $49.95) 

 Distributor – generate 100 PV within a 30 day period 

 Executive – maintain 60 PV a month and recruit 2 Distributors 

 Jade Executive – maintain 60 PV a month and recruit and maintain 4 Executives 

or 8 Distributors 

 Pearl Executive – maintain 60 PV a month and recruit and maintain 8 Executives 

or 12 Distributors 

 Sapphire Executive – maintain 60 PV a month and recruit and maintain 12 

Executives 

 Sapphire Elite – maintain 60 PV a month and Sapphire Executive qualification, in 

addition to earning at least 60 binary commissions the previous month (an 

ongoing requirement) 

 Ruby Director – maintain 60 PV a month, have at least two Sapphire qualified 

legs and have earned at least 200 binary commissions the previous month 

 Emerald Director – maintain 60 PV a month, have at least four Sapphire qualified 

legs and have earned at least 500 binary commissions the previous month 

 Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, have at least six Sapphire qualified 

legs and have earned at least 1000 binary commissions the previous month 

 Double Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, have at least two Diamond 

Director legs and have earned at least 1500 binary commissions the previous 

month 

 Triple Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, maintain a downline of at 

least 10,000 affiliates on autoship, have at least four Diamond legs and generate at 
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least 2,000,000 CV a month in downline sales volume (no more than 500,000 CV 

from any one recruitment line) 

 Presidential Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, maintain a downline of 

at least 15,000 affiliates on autoship, have at least six Diamond legs and generate 

at least 3,000,000 CV a month in downline sales volume (no more than 500,000 

CV from any one recruitment line) 

 Imperial Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, maintain a downline of at 

least 20,000 affiliates on autoship, have at least eight Diamond legs and generate 

at least 4,000,000 CV a month in downline sales volume (no more than 500,000 

CV from any one recruitment leg) 

85. Defendants recruit victims, and induce them to purchase product packages 

through false material statements and omissions and then distribute proceeds from these sales, at 

rates based exclusively on participants’ recruitment of new victims—rather than on the sale of 

products to customers outside the distribution channel.  Diamond Director Co-conspirators and 

the Defendants then siphon off 3% of the total global revenue from Jeunesse to further enrich 

themselves.   

86. As a result of investing in the scheme, Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered 

losses in the hundreds of millions of dollars. 

87. Jeunesse uses the promise of Team Commissions and “residual” or “passive” 

income for life to lure new distributors into the Pyramid Scheme.  In practice, Jeunesse 

accomplishes this goal by having Distributors buy products and monthly packages, and recruit 

other new distributors to do the same. 

88. Jeunesse Distributors are strongly encouraged to purchase one of the more 

expensive product packages.   

89. The document entitled “The Gameplan” included in the Jeunesse Starter Kit 

states:  “Your first 48 hours to 7 days is crucial—what you do now will determine your success 

in the future.”  (emphasis in original). [See Jeunesse Gameplan, attached hereto as Exhibit D]. 
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90. Jeunesse emphasizes such urgency because it wants the new distributors to 

become active, qualified, purchase product packages, sign up for the Jeunesse Autoship 

Program, and introduce others to the business before the excitement generated by the initial 

recruitment pitch wears off and the new recruit quits, which generally occurs within a week or 

two. 

91. The Gameplan (Ex. D) urges new distributors to choose one of the larger 

packages.  As the Gameplan explains:   

The majority of Distributors choose the larger packages for these key reasons: 

 

a. You will accumulate the 100 PV (Personal Volume) required 

to qualify as a Distributor. 

b. You will need to use the products in order to speak about 

their effectiveness. 

c. You will need to share your products with people so they will 

try them. 

d. Your team will do what you do.  If you are using the products 

and giving out the products for others to try, your team will 

duplicate your actions. 

e. You will be paid at a higher rank for a temporary period, 

during which you will be eligible to receive the Leadership 

Matching Bonus. 

92. As Jeunesse Diamond Director Bekki Hurley states in a “start-up” video: 

If you are coming in looking at this as a business opportunity I am going to 

recommend that you go in with one of the higher packages just because you 

are going to have some products on hand … and the total price is going to 

be an income tax right off for you[.]
8
 

93. In order to qualify for commissions in Jeunesse, each affiliate must generate in 

sales or purchase 100 PV in products within a single month.  Thereafter in order to remain 

commission qualified, each affiliate must maintain 60 PV (Personal Volume) in product volume 

each month.  Thus, to receive any commissions with Jeunesse, a distributor must make at least 

                         
8
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=O9jmy5FlmkI 
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an initial purchase of a product package, and then continually purchase product packages on a 

monthly basis regardless of consumer need.  

94. In order for a distributor to maintain 60 Personal Volume points each month and 

in order to remain qualified for commissions, Jeunesse strongly encourages that each distributor 

receive their monthly product packages under the Jeunesse Autoship Program. 

95. In the “Gameplan” guide, once a product package has been purchased, the next 

highly recommended step is to immediately enroll in the Jeunesse Autoship program, which 

will ensure ongoing eligibility for compensation.  As the Gameplan (Ex. D) explains: 

This will ensure you always have the product you need to build your 

business on a monthly basis.  It will also secure the minimum 

Commissionable Volume.  Distributors who are serious about building a 

residual income immediately enroll in Autoship. 

96. As another video states: 

The whole purpose of this business is to earn residual income; you can’t do 

that unless you have your Autoship set up for yourself and you get the 

people who enroll in your business to set up Autoship and you do this on the 

day that you enroll them.
9
 

97. As one Jeunesse team’s Facebook page states: 

For those of you new to the business, Autoship is a must when setting 

anyone up with Jeunesse. Autoship is the bloodline of the business and 

without your people on Autoship your business will take so much longer to 

grow and your success will be limited…. Don’t short change your business 

and ensure that you and everyone in your downline benefits from a strong 

and healthy Autoship program. Your new distributors will follow what 

you do. If you don’t put them on Autoship, they won’t put their people on 

either and so on and so on.
10

 

98. As another incentive for signing up for Autoship, Jeunesse promises that if a 

Distributor maintains Autoship, they do not have to pay annual affiliate fees. 

                         
9
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZAIjMRgWmmo 

10
 https://www.facebook.com/TeamEpicGlobal/posts/834455059953865 
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99. In sum, the Autoship Program is a centerpiece of the Jeunesse Public 

Compensation Plan.  The purchase of product packages by Jeunesse Distributors generate the 

profits that go to those at the top of the Jeunesse pyramid.  The Jeunesse Autoship Program, and 

the 60 PV monthly requirement, ensures that profits will continue to flow. 

100. Not only are distributors strongly encouraged to Autoship their own products, 

but they in turn strongly encourage those in their downline to do the same.  In fact, to reach the 

highest levels of the Public Compensation plan, a distributor must have thousands of 

distributors in their downline on the Jeunesse Autoship Program: 

Triple Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, maintain a downline 

of at least 10,000 affiliates on autoship, have at least four Diamond legs 

and generate at least 2,000,000 CV a month in downline sales volume (no 

more than 500,000 CV from any one recruitment line) 

  

Presidential Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, maintain a 

downline of at least 15,000 affiliates on autoship, have at least six 

Diamond legs and generate at least 3,000,000 CV a month in downline sales 

volume (no more than 500,000 CV from any one recruitment line) 

 

Imperial Diamond Director – maintain 60 PV a month, maintain a 

downline of at least 20,000 affiliates on autoship, have at least eight 

Diamond legs and generate at least 4,000,000 CV a month in downline sales 

volume (no more than 500,000 CV from any one recruitment leg) 

 

101. As shown above, and in the Public Compensation Plan, the CV and binary 

system of payout is extremely difficult to follow.  This is why Jeunesse emphasizes the power 

of duplication in its recruiting videos. New distributors are told to follow an eight-step system, 

which is much easier to do than attempt to navigate Jeunesse’s confusing Public Compensation 

Plan. 

102. At a Google Hangout held on July 14, 2016, Jeunesse leaders explained the 

eight-step system one needs to follow to be successful in Jeunesse.  Those steps are as follows: 

1. Know your why 

2. Understand your financial goals 
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3. Create your list 

4. Contact and Invite 

5. Share the Jeunesse Opportunity 

6. Follow up 

7. Enroll Others 

8. Repeat and teach these steps.
11

 

 

103. As the Jeunesse leaders explained:  “This is the magic and this is really where the 

duplication happens.”
12

 

104. Not one of those steps involves product sales to consumers outside the 

distribution channel. 

105. At that same Google Hangout, Diamond Director Joshua Higginbotham 

discussed a new Jeunesse product, but made no mention of selling the product to customers 

outside the distribution channel, but instead using it to recruit people; to “re-launch people, go 

get back in front of people that quit or dropped out.”
13

 

106. Higginbotham also made no mention of the Jeunesse secret, inside deals (i.e., 

business development deals, discussed infra).  Instead, he discussed the “simple” things a 

distributor must do to build a team in Jeunesse.  “There is no way you can build an army of 

people that are committed to changing their lives” without doing the first three steps of the 

eight-step system, Higginbotham stated.  As he further explained, “you want to build a massive 

team of people who are duplicating a system, possibly globally[.]”  To do so, the distributor 

must be “all in.”  “If you want to build a team that’s all in, my question to you is are you all in.” 

107. Jeunesse leader Katy Holt-Larsen explained that the eight-step system is “so 

simple… that’s the beauty of it, anyone can follow it and get it done.” 

108. Double Diamond Director Flora Li urged that you “need to go out right now and 

get products for yourself and for your team.”  Flora Li makes no mention of getting products for 

                         
11

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a7x8WGm3WRg 
12

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a7x8WGm3WRg 
13

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a7x8WGm3WRg 
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the purpose of retail sales.  Instead, the goal of buying product packages is to pitch the business 

opportunity to others so that one can “build a bigger team, a more successful team.” 

109. Jeunesse expends a great deal of effort to demonstrate how simple it is to earn 

commissions.  New distributors and recruits are told:  “Everyone can do this business.”
14

 

110. New and potential distributors are told that to be successful in Jeunesse all you 

need is “passion.”  As stated by Jeunesse Chief Visionary Officer, Scott Lewis: 

“[Jeunesse is] an opportunity to take your life to the next level, not just your 

business….If you’re passionate about the movement we’ve created, that’s 

all you’re going to need.  Follow the steps.  Be passionate….You know 

what separates these Diamonds from the rest of the people that don’t make it 

to Diamond?  Its how they deal with adversity.  They deal with the same 

adversity as you, every single day.  But they are resilient in the face of 

adversity…. All you’ve got to do is be passionate because passion is 

absolutely infectious…. Everything is in your hands.
15

 

111. Commissions are paid out for the recruitment of new distributors, and not for 

sales of products to ultimate users outside the Jeunesse pyramid. 

112. These rewards are illusory, however, as they exist primarily to benefit 

Defendants and the co-conspirator Diamond Directors, and to lure more victims.  Moving up 

Jeunesse’s ranks is dependent upon bringing in new distributors, who purchase Jeunesse’s 

product packages.  Jeunesse places little, if any, emphasis on product sales to outside customers, 

and lacks the procedural safeguards to prevent inventory loading in order to qualify for bonuses. 

113. Defendants emphasize recruitment over product sales and stress the importance 

of recruiting new recruits into the Jeunesse program.  For example, in a seminar on teaching 

how to “maximize” the Jeunesse Compensation Plan, Diamond Director Steve Green focused 

on team building, not retail sales, and stated:  “Everyone knows how to retail a product; that’s 

easy.” 

                         
14

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sovXkavHe9g 
15

 Located on: https://www.facebook.com/JeunesseHQ/ 
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114. Diamond Director Kim Hui, of Newport Beach, California tells new and 

potential distributors: 

So the first way to make money is retail commissions, right. You know we 

as distributors we get the product at wholesale and then when people buy it, 

they buy it retail . . . so we get a little retail commission. . . . Now that will 

be the smallest pay you ever get. OK? I forget about retail commissions for 

me. . . . I’m in this not to sell product. I’m here to build a global distribution. 

. . . I’m not a salesperson; I’m a business builder.
16

 
 

115. Defendants direct new and prospective distributors to follow a “team building” 

system in order to earn money off of the team they are building.  The team building part of the 

compensation plan “is the core of [the Jeunesse] plan.” 

116. Jeunesse does not provide adequate, if any, “safeguard” policies and procedures 

sufficient to ensure adequate product sales to ultimate end users and to prevent inventory 

loading.  Such safeguards are necessary, as a structure with insufficient retail sales will 

inevitably generate a pyramid scheme that relies on ongoing recruitment to fund commission 

payments.  In Matter of Amway Corp., Inc., 93 F.T.C. 618 (1979), the FTC found that Amway 

was not operating as a pyramid scheme because it had adopted and enforced certain procedures 

to prevent inventory loading and to ensure that actual retail sales existed.  As noted in 

Omnitrition, the safeguard “policies adopted by Amway were as follows: (1) participants were 

required to buy back from any person they recruited any saleable, unsold inventory upon the 

recruit’s leaving Amway, (2) every participant was required to sell at wholesale or retail at least 

70% of the products bought in a given month in order to receive a bonus for that month, and (3) 

in order to receive a bonus in a month, each participant was required to submit proof of retail 

sales made to ten different consumers.”  Webster v. Omnitrition Int’l, Inc., 79 F. 3d 776, 783 

(9th Cir. 1996). 

                         
16

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iA0MSa2tAO8 
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117. Jeunesse has a 70% rule within its Policies & Procedures.  It states:  “In order to 

qualify for commission and overrides, each distributor must certify with the purchase of product 

that he/she has sold to retail customers and/or has consumed seventy percent (70%) of all 

products previously purchased.  This is known in the industry as the ‘Seventy Percent Rule’.”  

[See Jeunesse Policy and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit E], § 8.5. 

118. Jeunesse’s Seventy Percent Rule depends entirely on self-verification and there 

are no explicit sanctions for a violation.  Even if Jeunesse were to take steps to verify this 

certification, a distributor could meet the terms of the Policy and Procedures by merely 

consuming the product personally, even if the purchase was motivated by the desire to earn 

commissions.  As such, even if enforced, this rule would not be effective to ensure product sales 

to individuals outside the distribution network.   

119. Jeunesse also has no Amway-like “10 Customer Rule” or similar policy.  

Jeunesse does not even require that a distributor make any product sales to ultimate consumers 

outside the distribution channel.  Pursuant to the Jeunesse Policies & Procedures:  “In order to 

qualify for any compensation payable under the Jeunesse Rewards plan, a distributor should 

make retail sales to the ultimate consumer.” Ex. E § 8.6 (emphasis added).   

120. Jeunesse has a 1-year return policy for distributors who leave the business. The 

ability to return product, however, is limited by potential expiration of the product (the product 

must be in “CURRENT, REUSABLE AND RESALABLE condition”) and, more significantly, 

by the 70% certification assumed in every distributor’s purchase.  See Policies and Procedures 

(Ex. E), § 10.5.  If the purchase itself certifies that 70% will be sold or consumed, ability to 

return is assumed to be limited by that certification.  

D. The Jeunesse Secret Compensation Plan. 
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121. Upon information and belief, most of the income earned by Jeunesse’s top 

earners comes from a secret, non-public compensation plan in form of Business Development 

Agreements (“BDA”).  An example of one such deal is attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

122. The Jeunesse Business Development Agreements are designed to attract top 

earners in the network marketing industry and lure them (and the downline that they have built 

in another network marketing company) to Jeunesse and reward them for bringing those teams 

to, and enrolling them in, Jeunesse. 

123. Upon information and belief, one of the rewards for participation in the Jeunesse 

Secret Compensation Plan is preferential placement in the Jeunesse Genealogy (i.e., the 

structure of the Jeunesse pyramid). 

124. The vast majority of Jeunesse participants do not receive additional 

compensation for their efforts, nor do they receive preferential placement in the Jeunesse 

Genealogy.  They are instead required to build a sales organization pursuant to the Public 

Compensation Plan. 

125. The terms of the Jeunesse BDAs vary from recipient to recipient. 

126. According to Jeunesse’s own representatives, Jeunesse’s rapid success in the 

network marketing industry is largely due to these secret BDAs. 

127. Not only are such deals not disclosed to the public, but Defendants routinely hold 

out such deal recipients as having achieved certain levels of success in Jeunesse without 

disclosing that that success is due to the inside deal, and not by organically building a team from 

scratch pursuant to the Public Compensation Plan. 

128. One such deal recipient, Defendant Kevin Giguere, was an experienced network 

marketer before entering into an inside deal with Jeunesse.  Upon information and belief, 

Defendant Giguere has been in a number of purported network marketing companies, including 

YTB (Your Business Travel) International, Numis network, Evolv, and Seacret. 
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129. Defendant Giguere was a defendant in the lawsuit Mathew Nestler v. Jeunesse, 

LLC a/k/a Jeuensse Global, and Kevin Giguere, Case No. 2015CA000409, Seminole County, 

FL, 02/20/15.  According to the allegations in the Nestler Lawsuit, Giguere met with Mathew 

Nestler, Wendy Lewis, and Randy Ray Lewis, and then President of Jeunesse, Darren Jensen, 

over the course of several meetings in February 2014, to solidify a future agreement between 

both Nestler and Giguere to join Jeunesse.  According to the allegations in the Nestler Lawsuit, 

Giguere entered into a BDA with Jeunesse.  According to the allegations in the Nestler Lawsuit:  

“Contrary to its own Policies and Procedures, which expressly forbids Jeunesse participants 

from owning more than ‘one distributorship,’ Giguere, [Cedric] Harris and [Rick] Ricketts were 

each allowed to accumulate over fifty positions between themselves in the Jeunesse genealogy, 

dramatically impacting their ability to dole out preferential placement for recruits.  This gave 

them a tremendous advantage over their competitors through the Jeunesse organization.”  

Jeunesse issued a press release to congratulate Giguere on reaching the rank of Diamond 

Director “in just nine months.”  The press release provided the misleading impression that 

Giguere joined Jeunesse after 22 years in the grocery industry and made no mention of his 

previous network marketing experience.  The press release did not mention that Giguere was a 

recipient of a secret BDA. 

130. Defendants lure top industry earners to Jeunesse with these inside deals and then 

the top-earners endorse Jeunesse and induce others to enroll in Jeunesse without disclosing to 

the public the secret financial arrangement. 

131. In a recruiting call in which Giguere was attempting to recruit two top earners 

from a rival network marketing company using secret BDAs, Giguere stated: “I make $2.5 

million this year and I think I’ll make $3.5 to $4 million next year.”  Giguere also stated that he 

was transferring his Jeunesse earnings to investment properties, including a restaurant, and 

explained “I’m trying to get diversified, because this shit ain’t going to last forever ….  Making 
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this kind of money.”  When asked specifically about Jason Caramanis, Giguere stated 

Caramanis was a “bad dude.”  That Caramanis was in “ten companies.  He makes a million a 

month in our company, makes $40,000 a month in Seacret …. He used to make $150,000 a 

month in Vemma… He just brokers deals all day long … he don’t talk to anybody … he don’t 

come to the conventions … he don’t do shit.”  Defendant Giguere also stated that for the “big 

players” in the company, estimated to be about 4-5 individuals, a BDA can be worth up to 

$100,000 to $200,000 a month.  As Defendant Giguere stated:  “nobody [in the industry] can 

compete with it.” Giguere stated about the people in his organizations from his previous 

companies:  “I brought them all over.”  As a result, he stated that he “put 30,000 people in last 

year.” If each of those individuals brought over by Giguere “activated” and “qualified” by 

paying the $49.95 startup fee and by purchasing only the Basic Product Package at $199.95, 

then the revenue earned by Jeunesse based on just this one undisclosed BDA is approximately 

$7.5 million. 

132. In short, Defendants are luring top network marketers from other companies with 

very lucrative inside deals and those individuals are then enrolling their teams into Jeunesse.  

The inside deals are routinely concealed from the public.  They are not disclosed to members of 

the team being brought over and they are not disclosed when these individuals are being held 

out by the company as reaching specific earnings levels in record time. 

133. Upon information and belief, top BDA recipients are brought to Jeunesse’s home 

office where there are pitched on the inside deals by the Jeunesse leadership, specifically 

Wendy Lewis and Randy Ray, and are then presented with a BDA. 

134. As of Fall 2015, there are four individuals who work out of the Jeunesse home 

office and all they do is draft and execute BDAs. 

135. According to Defendant Giguere, Jeunesse top earner, Defendant Jason 

Caramanis earns $1 million a month from Jeunesse by sitting in his home office and brokering 
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BDAs all day long.  According to Giguere, Defendant Caramanis no longer attends Jeunesse 

conventions and events.  Meanwhile, low level Jeunesse distributors are routinely told by the 

Jeunesse leadership that their future success depends on their attending every Jeunesse event 

and bringing new recruits to these Jeunesse events. 

136. Upon information and belief, recipients of such deals also include Jeunesse top 

earners Kim Hui, Jason Caramanis, and former VEMMA top earner, Alex Morton. 

137. In or about July 2015, on the eve of the FTC bringing claims against VEMMA, 

upon information and belief, Alex Morton entered into a BDA with Jeunesse.  Pursuant to that 

deal, he was advanced undisclosed sums in exchange for persuading his VEMMA “downline” 

to join Jeunesse.  Within weeks, he was held out to the public as having achieved “Diamond 

Director” level without having met the requirements of the public plan, and without disclosing 

the existence or terms of the BDA.  As a direct result of this fraudulent concealment, many 

Arizona residents were lured into the Jeunesse scheme. 

138. Such deal recipients are routinely held out by Jeunesse as having achieved 

certain “levels” within the Jeunesse Public Compensation Plan (typically, Diamond Director), 

without disclosing the existence of the BDA, and thus fraudulently implying to the public that 

such rapid success can also be achieved by distributors by building a business organization 

through the Jeunesse Public Compensation Plan. 

139. Stated somewhat differently, recipients of Jeunesse’s BDAs endorse Jeunesse 

and the Jeunesse Public Compensation Plan without disclosing that they are being paid for their 

endorsements through the BDAs.  That failure to disclose constitutes fraud.  According to the 

Federal Trade Commission’s Guide Concerning the Use of Endorsements and Testimonials in 

Advertising, “[w]hen there exists a connection between the endorser and the seller of the 

advertised product that might materially affect the weight or credibility of the endorsement (i.e., 
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the connection is not reasonably expected by the audience), such connection must be fully 

disclosed.”  16 C.F.R. § 255.5 (1980). 

140. Jeunesse distributors who did not receive a BDA and did know about the BDAs 

consider such endorsements, without disclosing the existence of the BDA, “material.”  For 

example, upon learning about the Diamond Director Cedric Harris’ secret inside deal, one 

individual stated: 

Wow, this was sort of discouraging.  I have never been in MLM before but 

signed up on Dec 24 and have worked my ass off and signed up 250+ 

people in 10 weeks and now have a team of 650+…  

I watched a team call the other night where Cedric [Harris] was announced 

as making Diamond level in only TWO months! I didn’t realize you could 

be appointed that position… I don’t even get any recognition for what I’ve 

done and my sponsor sucks.  

Wow. That’s all I can say.
17

 

141. At a closed-door meeting with members of his team, Jeunesse Diamond Director, 

Adam Vincent Gilmer, explained that he built his sales organization, not through the Jeunesse 

Public Compensation Plan, but on inside contracts and private deals (i.e., BDAs): 

The fastest way to build your sales organization is one, get in, and two, 

structure your business so that you have contracts [i.e., BDAs] on both sides 

of your business.  To put this in perspective, in the last two days [I have] 

written about seventy $5,000 contracts…. I have built my business like this 

for the past three years and I’ve made incredible, incredible income in this 

company. 

 

142. Contrary to Jeunesse’s public statements that average, everyday individuals can 

be successful in Jeunesse (if they simply have “passion”) and that new recruits should not 

discriminate in who they introduce to the business (“Don’t prejudge anyone”),
18

 Adam Vincent 

                         
17

 http://behindmlm.com/companies/90000-secret-backroom-affiliate-deals-jeunesse-lawsuit/ 

18
 http://www.genyoungtraining.com/pages/skillset.php 
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Gilmer explained that he only sponsors what he calls “quality” individuals.  As he explained:  “I 

sponsor on purpose… I am very, very specific[.]” 

143. To become successful in Jeunesse, and contrary to Jeunesse’s public statements 

that all you need is “two people, who then find two people, and so on,” Adam Vincent Gilmer 

stated:  “There isn’t anybody who sits in the rows that are Diamonds who haven’t sponsored a 

hundred people and all of them on average make $1.6 million a year.” 

144. This type of “head-hunting” activity conducted by Defendants and the Diamond 

Director Co-Conspirators is a direct violation of the Jeunesse Policy and Procedures, which 

provide: 

Distributors may not target the sales force of another direct sales company 

to become Distributors or to sell the products of Jeunesse.  Distributors 

may not encourage members of the sales force of another direct sales 

company to violate the terms of their contract with such company.  

Distributors bear the sole risk and sole liability for such activities, which 

activities are not endorsed or supported by Jeunesse. 

 

See Policies and Procedures (Ex. E), § 11.15.   

 

145. Contrary to the express prohibition in the Jeunesse Policies and Procedures, 

Defendants and the Diamond Director co-conspirators support, endorse, and conduct such 

prohibited activities (indeed, it is their primary business model).  Defendants and the Diamond 

Director co-conspirators are engaging in the wholesale importation of entire “teams” from other 

network marketing organizations into Jeunesse, all the while never disclosing to those team 

members or to the public that the team leader endorsing, and enrolling them into, Jeunesse is the 

recipient of an inside deal (i.e., BDA). 

E. Dr. Stacie A. Bosley’s Expert Opinion That Jeunesse is Operating a Pyramid 

Scheme 

 

146. Dr. Stacie Bosley is an expert in multilevel marketing, direct selling, and 

pyramid schemes.  Dr. Bosely served as an expert witness for the Federal Trade Commission in 
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Federal Trade Commission v. Vemma Nutrition Company, et. al., Case No. CV 15-1578-PHX-

JJT, filed in the Arizona District Court on August 17, 2015 (hereinafter, “FTC v. Vemma”), 

which led to Vemma’s $238 Million settlement with the FTC. 

147. Dr. Bosley has provided a Preliminary Expert Report to analyze the Jeunesse 

marketing program to determine whether it is a pyramid scheme.  [A copy of Dr. Bosley’s 

Preliminary Expert Report is attached hereto as Exhibit A.] 

148. In the Preliminary Expert Report, Dr. Bosley concludes that Jeunesse is 

operating an illegal pyramid scheme:  “Considering the evidence currently available, it is my 

expert opinion that Jeunesse is operating a pyramid scheme, disguised as a multilevel 

marketing organization. The anticipated result of Jeunesse’s program is an endless recruitment 

chain, with a strong emphasis on recruitment over sales to ultimate users. At any moment that 

the scheme is analyzed, analysis indicates that the vast majority of participants will be in a loss 

position. Internal data from Jeunesse would provide additional detail on how the program 

operates in practice and would assist in calculating the scale of consumer injury, but I am 

confident it would confirm my judgment that Jeunesse is a pyramid scheme.” (emphasis 

added). Bosley Report, Ex. A at ¶ 32. 

149. In the Preliminary Expert Report, Dr. Bosley states the following with regard to 

the secret BDAs:  “A BDA (also known as a Sales Payment Guarantee Agreement) 

compensates a high level MLM distributor in another organization when they enter Jeunesse, 

activate and qualify as a Jeunesse distributor, and achieve target volume thresholds. These 

volume thresholds are quite aggressive and can presumably only be satisfied when the BDA 

recipient brings his downline over from the competing MLM organization. Beyond the 

significant supplemental earnings – earnings that are not available to other Jeunesse recruits nor 
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disclosed to recruits or current distributors – the BDA recipient is given favorable starting 

placement in the distribution network. In the conference call between Kevin Giguere and 

potential recruits in a competing MLM, Giguere suggests that these deals are lucrative and 

extremely common within Jeunesse. If true, these contracts represent a direct payment for 

recruitment as retail sales appear to play no role in these arrangements. Furthermore, the 

existence of private compensation agreements, not available or advertised within the company’s 

Financial Rewards Plan, severely aggravates the existing problems of misleading earnings 

representations.” (emphasis added). Ex. A at ¶ 30 

F. The Arbitration Provision in Jeunesse’s Policy and Procedures is 

Procedurally and Substantively Unconscionable and Unenforceable. 

 

150. Before becoming a Jeunesse Distributor, prospective distributors, including 

Plaintiffs and members of the Class, are required to sign Jeunesse’s Distributor Agreements, 

which incorporate the Jeunesse Global Policies and Procedures.  Buried in the back of the 

Jeunesse Global Policies and Procedures there is an arbitration provision.  The arbitration 

provision is provided on a “take-it-or-leave-it” basis with no opportunity for negotiation and is 

therefore a contract of adhesion.  The prospective distributor received no explanation of the 

arbitration provision and would not have been permitted to become a distributor unless they 

signed the Agreement that contains the offending, and unenforceable arbitration provision.  As a 

result of the unequal bargaining positions, the overall harshness of the adhesive arbitration 

provision, Jeunesse’s arbitration provision is procedurally unconscionable. 

151. The Jeunesse Policies and Procedures provide: 

11.6 Arbitration 

 

All disputes and claims related to Jeunesse®, the Agreement, or its 

products, the rights and obligations of a distributor of Jeunesse®, or any 

claims or causes of actions relating to the performance of either a distributor 

or any Jeunesse® under the Agreement, and/or a distributor’s purchase of 

product(s) shall be settled totally and finally by arbitration in Altamonte 
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Springs, Florida, or such other location as Jeunesse® prescribes, in 

accordance with the Federal Arbitration Act and the Commercial Arbitration 

Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  There shall be (1) 

arbitrator, an attorney by law, who shall have expertise in business law 

transactions, with preference being an attorney knowledgeable in the direct 

selling industry, selected from a  panel, which the American Arbitration 

Association approves.  Each party to the arbitration shall be responsible for 

its own costs and expenses of arbitration, including legal and filing fees.  If 

a distributor files a claim or counterclaim against Jeunesse®, a distributor 

shall do so on an individual basis and not with any other distributor or as 

part of a class action.  The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and 

binding on the parties and may, if necessary, be reduced to a judgment in 

any court of competent jurisdiction.  This agreement for arbitration shall 

survive any termination or expiration of the Distributor Agreement. 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the arbitrator shall have no jurisdiction over 

disputes relating to the ownership, validity or registration or any mark of 

other intellectual property or proprietary or confidential information of 

Jeunesse®, without Jeunesse’ s written consent.  Jeunesse® may seek any 

applicable remedy in any applicable forum with respect to these disputes 

and with respect to money owing to Jeunesse®.  In addition to monetary 

damages, Jeunesse® may obtain injunctive relief against a distributor in 

violation of the Agreement, and for any violation of misuse of Jeunesse’ s 

trademark, copyright or confidential information policies. 

 

Nothing in this rule shall prevent Jeunesse® from terminating the 

Distributor Agreement or from applying to and obtaining from any court 

having jurisdiction a writ of attachment, a temporary injunction, preliminary 

injunction and/or other injunctive or emergency relief available to safeguard 

and protect Jeunesse’ s interests prior to filing of, or during or following any 

arbitration or other proceeding or pending the handing down of a decision or 

award in connection with any arbitration or other proceeding.  

  

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to give the arbitrator any 

authority, power, or right to alter, change, amend, modify, add to, or to 

subtract from any of the provisions of the Policies and Procedures, Rewards 

Plan, or the Distributor Agreement. 

 

The existence of any claim or cause of action by a distributor against 

Jeunesse®, whether predicated on the Distributor Agreement or otherwise, 

shall not constitute a defense to Jeunesse® enforcement of the covenants 

and agreements contained in the Distributor Agreement.  

 

See Policies and Procedures (Ex. E) § 11.6 (the “Arbitration Provision”). 
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152. The Arbitration Provision is unenforceable for at least three independent reasons: 

(1) it is an illusory provision that Jeunesse has the power to modify at any time without notice; 

(2) it is also substantively unconscionable in that it lacks mutuality, and (3) it is procedurally 

unconscionable because it is foisted upon distributors without any opportunity to bargain, 

negotiate, or even be informed of the significance of the provision, and it purports to deny rights 

guaranteed by statute. 

153. The Arbitration Provision is illusory because the Policies and Procedures grant 

Jeunesse the power to unilaterally modify the Arbitration Provision, at any time, and without 

prior notice, thereby rendering the provision illusory, lacking in consideration and therefore 

unenforceable. 

154. Specifically, the Policies And Procedures provide: 

Jeunesse, at its discretion, reserves the right to amend the Policies and 

Procedures as set forth therein, its distributor or suggested retail prices, 

product availability and formulations, and Rewards Plan, as it deems 

appropriate without prior notice. 

 

See Policy and Procedures (Ex. E), § 11.2.  Jeunesse’s unilateral right to modify the Arbitration 

Provision renders the provision illusory and unenforceable. 

155. The Arbitration Provision is also unenforceable because it requires that 

distributors waive their right to a jury trial and access to the courts, but expressly reserves the 

right for Jeunesse to have access to the courts to seek any remedy: 

Nothing in this rule shall prevent Jeunesse … from applying to and 

obtaining from any court having jurisdiction a writ of attachment, a 

temporary injunction, preliminary injunction and/or other injunctive or 

emergency relief available to safeguard and protect Jeuensse’s interests 

prior to the filing of or during or following any arbitration or other 

proceeding or pending the handing down of a decision or award in 

connection with any arbitration or other proceeding. 

 

See Policy and Procedures (Ex. E), § 11.6.  On the one hand, Jeunesse may have access to any 

and all courts in the United States to seek any remedy, either at law or equity, before a judge or 
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an arbitrator; Jeunesse’s distributors, on the other hand, are precluded from accessing any Court 

or remedy other than through arbitration before the American Arbitration Association; this 

demonstrates the lack of mutuality in the Arbitration Provision. 

156. Further, Jeunesse’s Arbitration Provision purports to restrict a distributor’s right 

to bring a class action.  This class-action restriction further renders the arbitration provision 

substantively unconscionable, as it purports to deny distributors a statutory right. 

157. Because Jeunesse’s Arbitration Provision is unconscionable, lacks mutuality, 

and/or lacks consideration, the claims of Plaintiffs and the Class are not subject to arbitration 

and this action is properly before this Court.  Jeunesse cannot solicit and fraudulently induce 

victims  for its illegal pyramid scheme and racketeering enterprise, and evade redress for its 

violations under applicable law by seeking to invoke this patently unconscionable, illusory, and 

unenforceable Arbitration Provision. 

VI. 

PLAINTIFFS’ CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS. 

158. Plaintiffs were induced to pay money to Jeunesse by numerous 

misrepresentations (both explicit and by omission), including false claims that Jeunesse is a 

legitimate network- marketing company and not an illegal pyramid scheme.  As the direct and 

proximate result of such misrepresentations, plaintiffs were damaged. 

159. This action is brought by Plaintiffs as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23. 

160. Plaintiffs seek relief on behalf of themselves and a nationwide class of all 

persons who were Jeunesse Distributors from September 9, 2009, until the present, and who 

suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ operation and promotion of the illegal Pyramid 

Scheme (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are the Defendants, their employees, family 

members, and all affiliates who profited from the scheme. 
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161. Plaintiff Aboltin also seeks relief on behalf of himself and a subclass for the 

Arizona-State law claims, which includes all persons who are members of the Class and who 

were or are residents of Arizona (the “Arizona Subclass”). 

162. Plaintiff Knight also seeks relief on behalf on herself and a subclass for the 

Texas State law claims, which includes all persons who are members of the Class and who are 

residents as Texas (the “Texas Subclass”). 

163. The members of the class and the subclass number in the hundreds of thousands, 

if not millions,
19

 and joinder of all Class members in a single action is impracticable. 

164. There are questions of law and/or fact common to the class and subclass, 

including but not limited to: 

i. Whether Defendants are operating an unlawful pyramid scheme; 

ii. Whether Distributors paid money to Defendants in exchange for (1) the 

right to sell a product and (2) the right to receive, in return for recruiting 

others into the program, rewards which were unrelated to the sale of the 

product to ultimate end users outside the distribution channel; 

iii. Whether Defendants' conduct constitutes an illegal pyramid scheme under 

Arizona, Texas, and Florida law; 

iv. Whether Defendants omitted to inform Plaintiffs and the Class that they 

were entering into an illegal pyramid scheme where the overwhelming 

majority of Distributors lose money; 

v. Whether Defendants failed to disclose the existence of the BDAs to 

potential distributors who were not BDA recipients; 

vi. Whether Defendants held out BDA recipients as having achieved level of 

success in Jeunesse without disclosing the existence of the BDA. 

vii. Whether Defendants engaged in acts of mail and/or wire fraud in direct 

violation of RICO; 

                         
19

 Jeunesse Chief Visionary Officer Scott Lewis stated at the Jeunesse University Hollywood 

Event held in early July, 2016:  “What I love about our system is we know that there are over 

5,000 people joining this movement every single day.”  Available at 

https://www.facebook.com/JeunesseHQ/   
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viii. Whether and to what extent the conduct has caused injury to Plaintiffs and 

the Class; 

ix. Whether Defendants’ conduct constitutes an unlawful, unfair and 

fraudulent business practice under Arizona, Texas, and Florida law. 

165. These and other questions of law and/or fact are common to the Class and the 

Subclasses, and predominate over any question affecting only individual class members. 

166. Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the claims of the Class and the Subclasses in that 

Plaintiffs were distributor for Jeunesse and lost money as a result of the Defendants’ operation 

and promotion of the Pyramid Scheme and Defendants’ racketeering activity. 

167. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the Class and the 

Subclasses in that Plaintiffs' claims are typical of those of the Class and Plaintiffs' interests are 

fully aligned with those of the Class. Plaintiffs have retained counsel who are experienced and 

skilled in complex class-action litigation. 

168. Class-action treatment is superior to the alternatives, if any, for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of the controversy alleged herein, because such treatment will permit a 

large number of similarly-situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum 

simultaneously, efficiently and without unnecessary duplication of evidence, effort, and expense 

that numerous individual actions would engender. 

169. Plaintiffs know of no difficulty likely to be encountered in the management of 

this action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action. 

VII. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

 

JUDGMENT DECLARING THE ARBITRATION PROVISION UNENFORCEABLE 

28. U.S.C. § 2201 

(Nationwide Class) 

170. Plaintiffs re-allege the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 
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171. A substantial controversy exists between the parties having adverse legal 

interests of sufficient immanency and reality concerning the enforceability of an arbitration 

provision to warrant the issuance of a declaratory judgment. 

172. Jeunesse’s Policies and Procedures contain an Arbitration Provision. The 

Arbitration Provision allows Jeunesse to unilaterally resort to the judicial process, while the 

distributor cannot. This lack of mutuality is unconscionable and unfair. 

173. Jeunesse’s Policies and Procedures grant Jeunesse the power to unilaterally 

modify the terms of the Arbitration Provision at any time and without prior notice, thereby 

rendering the Arbitration Provision illusory, lacking consideration, and therefore, 

unenforceable. 

174. The Arbitration Provision purportedly prevents distributors from seeking relief as 

a class.  Accordingly, the Arbitration Provision’s class action prohibition renders the Arbitration 

Provision substantively unconscionable. 

175. The Jeunesse Arbitration Provision also requires that distributors waive their 

right to a jury trial and access to the courts.  However, it reserves the right for Jeunesse to apply 

to any Court having jurisdiction for a writ of attachment, a temporary injunction, or any other 

relief available to Jeunesse to protect its interests prior to, during, or filing of any arbitration or 

other proceeding or pending the rendition of a decision or award in connection with any 

arbitration or proceeding.  In essence, Jeunesse may have access to the Courts to seek a remedy; 

however, distributors are precluded from receiving the same right, thus demonstrating a lack of 

mutuality in the provision. 

176. Accordingly, the Court should declare that the Arbitration Provision is 

procedurally and substantively unconscionable, illusory, lacking consideration, and 

unenforceable, and that the Plaintiffs’ claims and Class claims are properly before this Court. 
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COUNT II 

 

RACKETEERING ACTIVITY IN VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. 1962(c) 

(Nationwide Class) 

 

177. Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth here. 

178. Each defendant is a "person" for purposes of RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962, because 

each defendant is, and was at all relevant times, an individual or entity capable of holding legal 

or beneficial interest in property. 

179. All of the Defendants in this action collectively form an "enterprise" under 

RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962, in that they are a group of individuals and entities associated in fact, 

although not a legal entity. 

180. In the alternative, the Pyramid Scheme is an enterprise, in that it is an association 

in fact of all Defendants and others which, although not gathered under any legal entity, 

operates the illegal pyramid scheme to draw new victims to Jeunesse. 

181. The Defendants engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity by participating in a 

scheme and artifice to defraud, in violation of the mail and wire fraud statutes: 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1341 and 1343. 

182. The Defendants’ promotion of the illegal Pyramid Scheme is a per se scheme to 

defraud under the mail and wire fraud statutes; thus, the Defendants have committed 

racketeering acts by promoting an illegal pyramid scheme, by using and causing others to use 

the mail and by transmitting and causing others to transmit, by means of wire in interstate 

commerce, writing, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, all in furtherance of, and for purposes 

of, executing a scheme or artifice to defraud, namely an illegal pyramid scheme. 

183. Each Defendant has promoted the Pyramid Scheme.  Each use of the mail or wire 

by the Defendants in furtherance of the Pyramid Scheme is therefore an act of racketeering. 
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184. Moreover, the Defendants have used false and fraudulent pretenses to deceive 

the plaintiffs and the Class, and to thereby obtain money and property from the same. The 

Defendants have engaged in materially misleading statements of facts, and nondisclosure of 

particular facts, including: 

A. Creating the false impression that the majority of participants in the Jeunesse 

pyramid will profit by merely working hard and having passion. 

B. Creating the false impression that Jeunesse has a unique business model that is 

unusually generous to participants. 

C. Failing to clearly disclose that the purported success and wealth achieved by the 

individual Defendants through their participation in the Jeunesse pyramid is no 

longer possible, and not due to a failure, or a lack of passion. 

D. Failing to disclose the existence of BDAs, and holding out BDA recipients as 

obtaining certain levels of success in Jeunesse without disclosing that that 

success was based on the BDA, not by organically growing the business pursuant 

to the Jeunesse Public Compensation plan. 

E. These and other misrepresentations at the heart of the Defendants' enterprise 

were reasonably calculated to deceive a person of ordinary prudence and 

comprehension. 

185. All of the Defendants acted with intent to defraud. 

186. The Defendants’ numerous acts of mail fraud and wire fraud amount to a pattern 

of racketeering activity because they are related and continuous. The pattern consists of more 

than two acts, which occurred from 2009 until present, and consistently throughout that period.  

The predicate acts of mail and wire fraud are related because they have had the same or similar 

purpose: to convince new participants to pay to join the Jeunesse pyramid by paying money to 

do so, and to convince those participants to, in turn, recruit new participants. They have the 
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same result: convincing participants to join the Jeunesse pyramid by paying money and having 

those investors recruit new ones to do the same. They have the same perpetrators: Jeunesse’s 

executives, co-founders, and Diamond Director Co-Conspirators; all of whom promote the 

Jeunesse pyramid. They have the same victims: plaintiffs and class members who were 

fraudulently deceived into buying into the Jeunesse pyramid.  Finally, they have similar 

methods of commission: fraudulent misrepresentations and omissions concerning numerous 

aspects of Jeunesse’s operations made via online presentations, telephone calls, in-person 

gatherings, and written materials. In short, the predicate acts of wire and mail fraud committed 

by the Defendants constitute an intricately related set of predicate acts sufficient to meet the 

relatedness standard. 

187. Moreover, the predicate acts are continuous. They pose a threat of continued 

illegal conduct in that the Defendants continue to promote and operate the Pyramid Scheme and 

have expressed their intention to continue to do so.  Additionally, the predicate acts have 

extended over a significant period of time — the 8 years that Jeunesse has been in existence. 

The Defendants’ regular business of attracting new Distributors is conducted by ongoing mail 

and wire fraud that misrepresents that Jeunesse is a legitimate multilevel marketing enterprise 

and not an illegal pyramid scheme.  Without the repeated acts of wire and mail fraud, the 

Defendants’ fraudulent pyramid scheme would not be in existence. 

188. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ acts of mail and wire fraud, 

plaintiffs and the class were injured in their business and property.  Each plaintiff was injured in 

his or her business or property by reason of the Defendants’ pattern of racketeering activity, in 

that plaintiffs surrendered valuable consideration of at least $250, and in most cases much more, 

in order to participate in the inherently fraudulent scheme promoted by the Defendants. 

189. Each enterprise alleged above was engaged in, or affecting, interstate commerce 

by reason of, at least, each of the Defendants’ numerous acts or omissions constituting use of 
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the mail or interstate wire communication facilities in furtherance of their scheme to defraud.  

Additionally, each enterprise affected interstate commerce because the members comprising it 

engaged in business in several states and made use of the mail and interstate wire 

communication facilities in the process of doing so by causing marketing and promotional 

materials for Jeunesse, as well as images, videos, and information to be communicated through 

regular mail and via the Internet. 

190. Each of the Defendants is employed by or associated with each enterprise above 

to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of the enterprise's affairs through 

a pattern of racketeering activity, i.e., conducting the affairs of, promoting, and otherwise 

supporting the pyramid scheme. 

191. Specifically, Defendants Jeunesse, Wendy Lewis, Randy Ray, Scott Lewis, Kim 

Hui, Jason Caramanis, Alex Morton, Kevin Giguere and unnamed co-conspirators were 

involved in the creation and dissemination of marketing materials containing misrepresentations 

and material omissions regarding Jeunesse and have authorized the Diamond Director Co-

Conspirators to direct conference calls, websites, web presentations and speeches that contain 

numerous misrepresentations and material omissions and that deceive people into participating 

in the Jeunesse pyramid. 

192. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover treble damages, 

costs, and attorneys’ fees. 

COUNT III 

 
RACKETEERING ACTIVITY IN VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. 1962(a) 

(Nationwide Class) 

193. Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth here. 

194. Revenue derived from the pattern of racketeering activity set forth above, which 

upon information and belief constitutes a significant portion of the Defendants' total income, 
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was reinvested into the Jeunesse pyramid and/or concealed in other business and entities, for at 

least the following purposes: (1) to expand the operations of the Jeunesse pyramid through 

additional false and misleading advertising and promotional materials aimed at recruiting new 

distributors in the Jeunesse pyramid; (2) to facilitate the execution of the Jeunesse pyramid; and 

(3) to convince existing Distributors in the Jeunesse pyramid to recruit new ones, resulting in 

harm to plaintiffs and the Class. 

195. Plaintiffs and the Class were injured in their business or property as a result of 

such reinvestment into the Jeunesse pyramid because they were induced, with funds used to 

establish new levels of the Jeunesse pyramid, to invest in Jeunesse. 

196. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964, plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to recover 

treble damages, costs, and attorneys' fees. 

COUNT IV 

 

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT RACKETEERING ACTIVITY IN 
VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. & 1962(d) 

 

(Nationwide Class) 

197. Plaintiffs reallege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth here. 

198. The Defendants conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) and (c) in violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 

199. Each defendant knew about and knowingly and intentionally agreed to 

participate in and promote an illegal pyramid scheme. Specifically, the Defendants had a 

meeting of the minds on an object and course of action, namely, to create, support, and maintain 

the pyramid scheme for their own financial benefit. 

200. Each of the Defendants has committed multiple overt acts in furtherance of the 

unlawful objects of the pyramid scheme. 

201. The plaintiffs and the Class were injured in their business or property as a result. 
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202. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964, plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to recover 

treble damages, costs, and attorneys' fees. 

COUNT V 

 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER 18 U.S.C. & 1964(a) 

(Nationwide Class) 

203. Plaintiffs reallege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

204. To prevent and restrain ongoing violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962 by the 

Defendants, the court should order the Defendants to divest themselves of any interest, direct or 

indirect, in the enterprise; impose reasonable restrictions on the future activities or investments 

of the enterprise, including, but not limited to: prohibit the Defendants from engaging in the 

same type of endeavor as the enterprise engaged in, or order dissolution or reorganization of the 

enterprise. 

COUNT VI 

CONSUMER FRAUD (ARIZONA LAW) 

(Arizona Class) 

 

205. The Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth here. 

206. The false representations and omissions or failures to disclose material 

information by Defendants and the Diamond Director Co-Conspirators, as alleged herein, 

violated A.R.S. §§ 44-1521, et seq. 

207. Defendants are engaged in an illegal pyramid scheme as defined under A.R.S. § 

44-1731.  Defendants utilize this illegal pyramid scheme to intentionally deceive consumers, in 

Arizona and elsewhere, and has caused injury to Plaintiffs and members of the Subclass, and 

real or potential injury to Arizona consumers. 

208. As a result and consequence, Plaintiff Aboltin and members of the Arizona 

Subclass were injured, damaged and have suffered damages. 
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COUNT VII 

 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FLORIDA DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES 

ACT 

(Nationwide Class) 

 

209. Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set out here. 

210. Defendants are engaged in an illegal pyramid scheme as defined under Fla. Stat. 

Ann. § 849.091. Defendants utilize this illegal pyramid scheme to intentionally deceive 

consumers, in Florida and elsewhere, and have caused injury to Plaintiffs and members of the 

Class, and real or potential injury to consumers in Florida and elsewhere. 

211. Under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”), 

“unfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or 

commerce” is unlawful. Fla. Stat § 501.204(1).  

212. “The FDUTPA makes unlawful ‘unfair methods of competition, unconscionable 

acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or 

commerce.’ § 501.204, Fla. Stat. (2005). As noted above, a FDUTPA claim may be based on 

rules promulgated pursuant to the Federal Trade Commission Act or the standards of ‘unfairness 

and deception set forth and interpreted by the Federal Trade Commission or the federal courts.’ 

§ 501.203(3), Fla. Stat. (2005).”  KC Leisure, Inc. v. Haber, 972 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. Dist. 

Ct. App. 2008). 

213. Florida courts have expressly approved of bringing a FDUTPA claim based on a 

violation of the Federal Trade Commission and other laws even if those laws expressly prohibit 

a private cause of action or limit redress to a certain class.  See e.g., KC Leisure, Inc. v. Haber, 

972 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2008). 
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214. Defendants, in the conduct of their business, have engaged in false, misleading, 

unfair and deceptive acts and practices in the operation of their business in violation of the 

Federal Trade Commission Act.  15 U.S.C. §45(a)(1).  

215. Operating an illegal pyramid scheme is a violation of the Federal Trade 

Commission Act. Id. Thus, Defendants have violated the FDUTPA. 

216. Defendants committed these actions and violations intentionally and knowingly, 

causing damage to Plaintiffs and the Class members. 

217. The Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to relief pursuant to Fla. Stat § 

501.211 for the above described violations of the FDUTPA. The Plaintiffs requests that this 

Court award them damages, as well as costs, interest, and attorney’s fees pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 

501.2105. The Plaintiffs also requests that this Court grant them declaratory relief and issue an 

injunction to prevent Jeunesse from committing future violations of the FDUTPA pursuant to 

Fla. Stat § 501.207. 

COUNT VIII 

 

VIOLATION OF THE SALE OF BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES ACT 

 

(Florida Class) 

 

218. Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set out here. 

219. The Jeunesse compensation plan is a “Business opportunity” as defined by Fla. 

Stat. § 559.801.  

220. Plaintiffs and class members are “purchasers” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.801.  

221. The false representations and omissions or failures to disclose material 

information by Defendants and the Diamond Director Co-Conspirators, as alleged herein, 

violated Fla. Stat. § 559.809. 
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222. The Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to relief pursuant to Fla. Stat § 

559.813 for the above described violations of the Regulation of Trade, Commerce, and 

Investments Statute. The Plaintiffs requests that this Court grant them treble, economic and 

mental anguish damages, as well as costs, interest, and attorney’s fees. The Plaintiffs also 

requests that this Court grant declaratory relief and issue an injunction to prevent Defendants 

from committing future violations of the FDUTPA pursuant to Fla. Stat § 559.813. 

COUNT IX 

 

VIOLATIONS OF THE DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES-CONSUMER 

PROTECTION ACT 

 

(Texas Subclass) 

 
223. Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set out here. 

224. Defendants have engaged in false, misleading and deceptive acts and practices in 

the operation of its business in violation of the Deceptive Trade Practices-Consumer Protection 

Act Tex. Bus & Com. Code § 17.41, et seq. (the “DTPA”). 

225. The Plaintiff Knight and members of the Texas Subclass are “consumers” as 

defined by the DTPA. 

226. Jeunesse is a “person” as defined by the DTPA involved in “trade” and 

commerce” as defined by the DTPA.  

227. At all times material to the Plaintiffs’ involvement with Jeunesse, Jeunesse 

operated a pyramid promotion scheme within the meaning of Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.461, 

thereby committing violations and wrongful acts under the DTPA. 

228. As a direct and proximate result of Jeunesse’s conduct, the Plaintiff Knight and 

the Texas Subclass members have sustained substantial damages. 
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229. Jeunesse committed these actions and violations intentionally and knowingly, 

entitling Plaintiff Knight and the Texas subclass members to treble damages. 

230. Plaintiff Knight and the Texas Subclass members are entitled to relief pursuant to 

Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.50 for the above described violations of the DTPA. The Plaintiffs 

requests that this Court grant them treble, and economic damages, as well as costs, interest, and 

attorney’s fees.  Plaintiff Knight and the Subclass also request that this Court grant them 

declaratory relief and issue an injunction to prevent Jeunesse from committing future violations 

of the DTPA pursuant to Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.50. 

COUNT X 

 

Unjust Enrichment 

(Nationwide Class) 

 

231. Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set out here. 

232. The Jeunesse Compensation Plan is a pyramid scheme under Tex. Bus. & Com. 

Code § 17.461(a); Fla. Stat. Ann. § 849.091; and Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-1731. 

233. The Jeunesse Compensation Plan is a plan or operation by which Distributors 

give cash consideration for the opportunity to receive compensation derived primarily from 

recruiting, rather than from the sale of Jeunesse products by the Distributors.  

234. A substantial percentage of Jeunesse products sold to Distributors is not used or 

consumed by the Distributors. As discussed herein, most of Jeunesse products purchased by 

Distributors are purchased because of the financial incentives offered by the Jeunesse 

Compensation Plan.  

235. Operating and promoting a pyramid scheme is punishable as a felony in Texas, 

Florida, and Arizona. 
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236. The Compensation Plan is an integral part of the Distributor Agreements. The 

Distributor Agreements are contrary to public policy, and as such, are void. 

237. Plaintiffs and the class members paid Jeunesse money pursuant to Jeunesse’s 

perpetration of an illegal pyramid scheme. 

238. Defendants have been unjustly enriched by its perpetration of an illegal pyramid 

scheme and by Plaintiffs’ and class member’s payments of money to Jeunesse.  

239. It would be unconscionable to allow Jeunesse to retain the benefits of its illegal 

conduct. 

240. Defendants should be required to return to Plaintiffs and each class member all 

the money each paid Jeunesse pursuant to its illegal pyramid scheme, less any money Jeunesse 

paid Plaintiffs and class members. 

COUNT XI 

FEDERAL SECURITIES FRAUD 

 

241.  Plaintiffs re-allege each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set out 

here. 

242. In the alternative to Counts two, three, four, and five, and without prejudice to 

the position that Counts two, three, four, and five are not preempted by the Private Securities 

Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”), Plaintiffs in Count XI allege violations of the securities 

laws. 

243. Only to the extent Defendants contend that Plaintiffs’ purchases of distributor 

kits, payment of fees, and purchases of Jeunesse products constitute investments in unregistered 

securities (the sale of which would be a past and continuing violation of federal securities laws), 

and only if Defendants are successful in obtaining a dismissal of or judgment against Plaintiffs' 

RICO claims on the grounds that the PSLRA preempts Plaintiffs’ RICO claims, Plaintiffs 
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contend that the purchases of distributor kits, payment of fees, and purchases of Jeunesse 

products constitute investments in securities. 

244. In the Preliminary Expert Report, Dr. Bosley relates a number of material 

misrepresentations made by Jeunesse and its agents regarding a prospective distributor’s ability 

to earn money in the Pyramid Scheme:   

[T]here are also indications that earnings representations made by the 

company and its high-level distributors are routinely deceptive. As already 

mentioned, trainers frequently mention the Team Commission maximum 

without providing information on the typical commissions earned by past 

distributors. References are made to six-figure or eight-figure incomes (e.g., 

in Kim Hui’s New Distributor Orientation webinar) and lifestyle claims 

suggest significant wealth potential. For example, a slide in the Cedric 

Harris webinar (Yes to Jeunesse! With Team Take Over!) includes a picture 

of a $100,000 bonus check with no contextual information to indicate the 

likelihood of such income. The typical disclaimer, if one is provided, 

suggests that lack of success is attributable to lack of commitment, effort or 

talent. As stated in the Financial Rewards Plan: “Any representation or 

guarantee of earnings, whether made by Jeunesse or another distributor, 

would be misleading. Success with Jeunesse results only from one’s 

individual successful sales efforts, which require hard work, diligence, and 

leadership. Your success will depend upon how effectively you exercise 

these qualities.” 

 

The company’s own Income Disclosure Statements further exacerbate the 

problem of inaccurate earnings representations. In both the 2014 and 2016 

disclosures, the company presents information for a select subset of 

distributors by removing inactive distributors as well as those distributors 

converted to Wholesale Customer status. As described in section 2.9 of the 

Policies and Procedures document, all distributors who fail to achieve 

certain distributor outcomes in any 90-day period can be automatically 

converted from distributor to Wholesale Customer status. Section 2.9 states: 

“Jeunesse and the Distributor agree that if the Distributor fails to (i) sponsor 

a new Distributor, (ii) sign up a customer, or (iii) earn commissions during 

any consecutive ninety (90) day period, such lack of activity is indicative of 

a desire to consume products and not to be a Distributor. In such cases, 

Jeunesse may, in its sole discretion, terminate the Agreement and convert 

the status of the Distributor's account to a Wholesale Customer.” It is 

important to note that the Wholesale Customer can maintain her position in 

the distribution network, as well as any point volume achieved, so long as 

she remains active with a minimum monthly purchase. The Wholesale 

Customer can be converted back to distributor status, simply by clicking a 
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button in the Jeunesse BackOffice – there are no other fees or impediments 

to re-entry. The conversion process serves to alter the income disclosure 

statement by significantly altering the pool of active distributors at any one 

time and gives the appearance of a more favorable customer-to-distributor 

ratio (as described in the Leadership Training Customer Conversion video). 

The Income Disclosure Statements, combined with the income and lifestyle 

suggestions made by the company and top distributors, likely serve to distort 

the recruit’s understanding of the earning potential in Jeunesse. 

 

Preliminary Report (Exhibit A). 

245. The content on income potential cited by the Preliminary Report “rarely informs 

its audience that the structure of the [Jeunesse] program ensures that the vast majority of 

[distributors] cannot achieve substantial income, which is a material omission.”  Fed. Trade 

Comm'n v. Vemma Nutrition Co., No. CV-15-01578-PHX-JJT, 2015 WL 11118111, at *6 (D. 

Ariz. Sept. 18, 2015) (citing F.T.C. v. Five-Star Auto Club, Inc., 97 F. Supp. 2d 502, 532-33 

(S.D.N.Y. 2000)). 

246. These statements are misleading because they fail to inform distributors that very 

few distributors are likely to earn any profit from participating in the Pyramid Scheme, 

regardless of how much work they put in. 

247. By making affirmative statements regarding the ability of distributors to earn 

income, Defendants undertook an affirmative obligation to make the disclosures necessary to 

make such statements not misleading. 

248. Defendants made these omissions knowing that doing so was false and 

misleading.  Defendants benefitted in a concrete and substantial way from the operation of the 

Pyramid Scheme, the recruitment of new distributors, and new distributors' reliance on 

Defendants’ omissions. 

249. Defendants made these omissions with the specific intent that Distributors rely 

on them. 

Case 6:17-cv-01624-PGB-KRS   Document 123   Filed 10/30/17   Page 54 of 58 PageID 1189



 

55 

250. Plaintiffs' and the Class Members' reliance on the omissions may be presumed. 

VII. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, The named Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class request the following 

relief: 

A. Judgment declaring Jeunesse’s Arbitration Provision unenforceable; 

B. Certification of the Class and Subclasses; 

C. Jury Trial and judgment against the Defendants; 

D. Damages in the amount of the named plaintiffs and the class’s financial loss as a 

result of Defendants’ conduct and for injury to plaintiffs and the class’s business 

and property, all as a result of Defendants violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

E. Permanent injunctive relief enjoining the Defendants from further unlawful, 

unfair, fraudulent, or deceptive acts, including but not limited to, operating and 

supporting the  Pyramid Scheme; 

F. Restitution and disgorgement of monies; 

G. The cost and expense of suit, including reasonable attorneys' fees, in accordance 

with 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

H. For general, compensatory, and exemplary damages in an amount yet to be 

ascertained, but in no event less than $250 million; and 

I. For such other damages, relief, and pre-and post-judgment interest that the Court 

may deem just and proper. 

 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 30th day of October, 2017. 

DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC 

350 East Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1750 

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
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Tel: (954) 991-5420 

Fax: (844) 670-6009 

 

/s/Vijay G. Brijbasi  

Alan J. Perlman, Esq. 

Florida Bar No.  

Vijay G. Brijbasi, Esq. 

Florida Bar No. 15037 

Email: aperlman@dickinsonwright.com 

vbrijbasi@dickinsonwright.com 

 

 David N. Ferrucci, Esq. 

Arizona Bar No. 027423 

(Special Admissions to be Filed) 

Jonathan S. Batchelor, Esq. 

Arizona Bar No. 026882 

 (Special Admissions to be Filed) 

 DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC 
1850 N. Central Avenue, Suite 1400 

Phoenix, Arizona 85004-4568 

Email: dferrucci@dickinsonwright.com 

jbatchelor@dickinsonwright.com 

 

John P. Desmond, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 5618 

       (Special Admissions to be Filed) 

       DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC 

100 West Liberty Street, Suite 940 

Reno, Nevada 89501-1991 

Email: jdesmond@dickinsonwright.com  

 

       Attorneys for Plaintiffs James J. Aboltin  

       and Pamela J. Knight, individually  

       and on behalf of all others similarly   

       situated. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Case 6:17-cv-01624-PGB-KRS   Document 123   Filed 10/30/17   Page 56 of 58 PageID 1191

mailto:aperlman@dickinsonwright.com
mailto:vbrijbasi@dickinsonwright.com
mailto:dferrucci@dickinsonwright.com
mailto:jbatchelor@dickinsonwright.com
mailto:jdesmond@dickinsonwright.com


 

57 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 30th day of October 2017, I electronically filed the 

foregoing document with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF.  I also certify that the foregoing 

is being served this day upon all counsel of record via transmission of Notices of Electronic 

Filing generated by CM/ECF and to the pro se parties identified in the following Service List via 

the manner specified:  

       /s/Vijay G. Brijbasi 

       Vijay G. Brijbasi 

       Florida Bar No. 15037 

 

SERVICE LIST 

 

Glenn Timothy Graham Isaac R. Ruiz-Carus Jeffrey S. Jacobson 

Kelley, Drye & Warren, LLP Rissman, Barrett, Hurt, Donahue 

& 

Kelley, Drye & Warren, LLP 

1 Jefferson Road McLain, PA 101 Park Avenue 

Parsippany, NJ 07054 1 N Dale Mabry Hwy 11th Flr New York, NY 10178-0062 

ggraham@kelleydrye.com Tampa, FL 33609-2764 jjacobson@KelleyDrye.com 

 Isaac.Ruiz-Carus@rissman.com  

Jennings L. Hurt , III Kent S Brockelman Michael Cosmas Woodard 

Rissman, Barrett, Hurt, Donahue, Coppersmith Brockelman PLC Rissman, Barrett, Hurt, Donahue, 

McLain & Mangan, PA 2800 N Central Ave Ste 1200 McLain & Mangan, PA 

201 E Pine St, Suite 1500 Phoenix, AZ 85004 201 E Pine Street, Suite 1500 

Orlando, FL 32801  Orlando, FL 32801 

bucky.hurt@rissman.com  michael.woodard@rissman.com 

Shelley Tolman Daniel D Maynard Amanda Rose Dunn 

Coppersmith Brockelman PLC Maynard Cronin Erickson Rywant, Alvarez, Jones, 

2800 N Central Ave., Ste1200 Curran & Reiter PLC Russo & Guyton, P.A. 

Phoenix, AZ 85004 3200 N Central Ave., Ste 1800 109 N. Brush Street, Suite 500 

 Phoenix, AZ 85012-2443 Tampa, FL 33601 

  adunn@rywantalvarez.com 

Gavin David Magaziner Chris Wellman Scott D. Wellman 

Rywant, Alvarez, Jones, Wellman & Warren LLP Wellman & Warren LLP 

Russo & Guyton PA 24411 Ridge Rte., Ste. 200 24411 Ridge Rte., Ste. 200 

2440 SW 76th St, Suite 130 Laguna Hills, CA 92653 Laguna Hills, CA 92653 

Gainesville, FL 32608   

gdm@rywantalvarez.com 
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David Griffith Eisenstein 

Law Offices of David G 

Eisenstein PC 

P.O. Box 1202 

Carlsbad, CA 92018 

858-243-1425 

Fax: 760-730-7903 
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